IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

)

)

THOMAS A. WYATT,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 77,666

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida.

> RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit of Florida Criminal Justice Building/6th Floor 421 3rd Street West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (407) 355-7600

GARY CALDWELL Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 256919

Counsel for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>Procedural history</u>.

An Indian River Grand Jury indicted Thomas Wyatt and Michael Lovette for four counts of first degree murder, one count of sexual battery, three counts of kidnapping, two counts of robbery with a firearm, three counts of grand theft, one count of arson, and one count of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. R 3960. The charge of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon was severed pursuant to State v. Vazquez, 419 So. 2d 1088 (Fla. 1982). R 4145. One of the murder charges was also severed, R 4172, and the defendants were severed. R 4155. The case was tried to a jury which found Mr. Wyatt guilty of the remaining thirteen offenses as charged. R 4380-The jury recommended death sentences for the three murders, R 83. 4413-15, and the court imposed three death sentences as well as lengthy consecutive sentences on the other charges. R 4449-60. Mr. Wyatt filed a timely notice of appeal, R 4525, and this cause follows.

B. <u>Jury selection</u>.

During introductory remarks to the jury before voir dire questioning began, the trial court read to the venire the charges against Mr. Wyatt, including the previously-severed charge of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. R 23-24. Pointing out that it was an early stage in the proceedings, the defense moved that the court strike the panel. R 31-32. The court granted the state a recess to confer with the Office of the Attorney General. R 32. The state argued that the court should give a curative instruction. The defense replied that a curative instruction could merely highlight the matter. R 34-39. The trial court denied the motion. R 42. There was extensive discussion of a curative instruction, with defense counsel eventually agreeing to an instruction that the court had inadvertently read a charge that did not apply "to this defendant in this cause." R 45-58. The state and court agreed that the issue is preserved for appeal. R 55 (PROSECUTOR: "You are well preserved here with your motion for a mistrial. THE COURT: Yes, amply.").

Matters pertaining to cause challenges and the conduct of voir dire examination are set forth in the argument section of this brief.

C. <u>Trial</u>.

Between 11:00 p.m. and midnight on May 17, 1988, three persons were murdered at Domino's Pizza in Vero Beach: William Edwards (the manager), Frances Edwards (his wife, also an employee), and Matthew Bornoosh (a deliveryman). The bodies were in a bathroom, the men clothed, the woman nude, semen in her vagina. Mr. Edwards had been shot twice: one bullet went through his chest and a lung, and lodged behind the shoulder blade; the other, fired at close (not contact) range, went through the forehead, caused massive destruction to the brain, and lodged in the back of the head. Ms. Edwards was shot once in the back of the head from indeterminate range; the bullet passed through both hemispheres of the brain. She had recent bruises and minor scrapes on the right leg. Mr. Bornoosh had an injury to the top of the head, likely caused by a glancing bullet, and a gunshot wound to the left side of the head.¹ Money was gone from the safe.

1. Evidence linking Mr. Wyatt to the murders fell into three broad categories: circumstantial evidence linking him to the area, physical evidence at the scene, and various statements made by him.

¹ The trial court overruled defense objections that parts of the medical examiner's testimony were speculative. R 1475-76, 1521-22, 1547, 1548.

A. Around 11:45 p.m. on May 17, Robin Christy saw a fancy red and white car in front of Domino's. R 1054. Later that night she told the police, saying it was a "compact car." R 1064-65. The Vero Beach Police issued a BOLO for a red and white compact car, R 1592 (Capt. Blanton), R 1608 (Det. Mills), and around 8:00 a.m. received a report of a car matching the description. R 1594-95 (Det. Mills). The car, a burgundy or maroon Cadillac, was found in a remote location, badly burned. R 1595, 1608 (same). Nearby were a zippered money bag, several money wrappers, and two bullets. R 1597, 1607 (same); R 1643 (Lt. Kuehn). Between the car and Domino's, officers found a shirt bearing the name "Matthew." R 1651 (Capt. Blanton). The car had been stolen from a Jacksonville used car dealer, R 1655, who testified that there had been a .38 pistol in the car when it was stolen. R 1705.

A man with a like car checked into the Budget Bed & Breakfast at Yeehaw Junction on May 17. R 1745-48 (motel clerk).² He and his companion stayed in room 111. R 1749 (same). Telephone records showed a collect call from the motel to Tommy Wyatt's mother at 5:50 p.m. on May 17, and another at 8:37 from Marvin Gardens, a bar and restaurant near Domino's. R 1894, R 1901-1902 (telephone company personnel); R 1904, 1907 (Capt. Blanton). A call was also made from the motel to a relative of Michael Lovette at 5:48 on May 17. R 1892-93.

That night a truck driver picked up Mr. Wyatt and another man between Vero Beach and Yeehaw Junction. He let them off around dawn in Lake Wales. R 1955-57.

According to a suspected documents examiner, the person who had registered at the Yeehaw Junction motel also registered at the Budgetel

- 3 -

² The man was Michael Lovette. The motel clerk testified that Lovette "was not the type that should be driving a car like that," R 1745, and she thought the two were drug dealers. R 1745-46.

Inn in Brandon, and this person was Michael Lovette, a former North Carolina prison inmate. R 2169-77. A registration at the Grove Motel in Lakeland matched Mr. Wyatt's handwriting.³ R 2181. To establish Mr. Wyatt's handwriting, the state introduced writing samples from his prison file during the testimony of a North Carolina escape investigator. R 2117-18. Mr. Wyatt objected that the state had available many other handwriting samples (developed since his arrest), and unnecessarily used the witness to establish that Mr. Wyatt was a prison escapee; he went so far as to agree to stipulate that he had had filled out the Grove Motel registration. R 2097-2116. The state offered not to use the North Carolina prison records only if Mr. Wyatt would agree that Mr. Lovette authored the other registrations; Mr. Wyatt declined, and the court overruled the defense objection. <u>Id</u>. The Grove Motel registration was in the name "John Whitmore."

From May 20 to June 2, Mr. Wyatt, using the name John Whitmore, lived at Glen Ellen Motel in Clearwater, befriending John Rassel. R 2192-94 (motel manager). A road map found at the motel bore finger and palm prints of Mr. Wyatt and Mr. Lovette. R 2290 (fingerprint examiner). Mr. Rassel testified, over objection, R 2202-2205,⁴ that

³ The Budgetel and Grove registrations were dated May 18, 1988.

⁴ The state argued, and the trial court ruled, that evidence of the car theft and all evidence related to flight was admissible:

THE COURT: That, of course, is spread on the record now, but now we are down to this Ford Taurus. But I think that as it relates to the question of flight, I think it's admissible because flight is a legitimate area that the state can pursue. And <u>anything that is connected</u> with the flight I think is proper. And assuming that the necessary predicates are laid, I would so instruct the jury at the end of the case.

R 2204 (e.s.). The state's use of collateral evidence was the subject of substantial argument after jury selection and before opening

- 4 -

Mr. Wyatt stole a Ford Taurus at Madeira Beach. R 2211-12. Before moving away, Mr. Wyatt gave Fred Fox a bag containing bullets, R 2234-35, which was eventually given to the police. R 2260-61 (Lt. Dappen).

Larry Bouchette, a carpenter in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina, testified that in late May or early June 1988 he took "John Rassel" (Mr. Wyatt) into his home and hired him to do construction work. R 2367-68. One night, he bailed Mr. Wyatt out of jail; although he said he had been arrested for public drunkenness, Mr. Bouchette later learnt he was arrested for auto theft. R 2368-70. That evening, as they were drinking with others, Mr. Wyatt said in an argument either that "he had killed three people before and he could do it again," R 2371 (direct examination),⁵ or "Larry, I've killed before and I will kill again if I have to." R 2379 (impeachment with depostion).

William O'Neil, a former Myrtle Beach police officer, testified over objection, R 2395-96 (renewing motion in limine), that he arrested John Rassel (Mr. Wyatt) June 19, 1988: He stopped a Ford Taurus for a traffic offense. R 2390-93. After the car was stopped, Mr. Wyatt (a passenger in the car) ran away, and, when caught, got into a violent struggle. R 2396-97. A gathering crowd tried to free Mr. Wyatt (who seemed intoxicated). R 2399-2400.

Mr. Wyatt was arrested for the murders on July 8 after fleeing a South Carolina Highway Patrolman. The court overruled the defense objection to testimony about fleeing the patrolman. R 2404-2405.

B. According to a "compositional analyst," bullets in the bag given to Mr. Fox "were of the same close compositional association"

statements. R 954-64.

⁵ The trial court overruled the defense objection to this testimony. R 2361-63.

- 5 -

as those taken from the bodies, R 2331: they apparently came from a batch of bullets made at the same place on or about the same day. R 2336.

Forensic testing indicated that Matthew Bornoosh, William Edwards, and Michael Lovette did not contribute the semen found in Ms. Edwards' vagina, but Mr. Wyatt, because of his blood type, could have. R 1948-49 (criminalist Daniel Nippes).

The state introduced through Dr. Kevin McElfresh of Life Codes Corporation, over defense objection, DNA evidence to the effect that the semen could only have come from Mr. Wyatt. Mr. Wyatt objected to this testimony arguing that DNA testing evidence is not valid scientific evidence, and that the procedures used here were inadequate. Also over objection, R 2952-54, the court allowed testimony from criminalist Daniel Nippes (who did not actually participate in the DNA testing at bar) to the effect that he is active in developing DNA testing in Florida and recommended that the samples be sent to Life Codes.

C. Over objection, the state used testimony from law enforcement officers as to statements Mr. Wyatt made after his arrest.

Karl Payne, the deputy who arrested Mr. Wyatt, said that he gave his name as Jim Williams or Wilson, but then immediately said: "I am the one you are looking for, I am Tommy Wyatt." R 2457-58. En route to the station, Mr. Wyatt said it might be a feather in his cap that he had arrested Tommy Wyatt. R 2460. At the station,⁶ Mr. Wyatt asked if they used the electric chair in South Carolina; Deputy Payne said they did, but added that he had nothing to worry about since he had

⁶ The defense objected unsuccessfully to Deputy Payne's testimony about Mr. Wyatt's statements as irrelevant and having little probative value. R 2421-45.

done nothing in South Carolina to get the electric chair. Asked if Florida used the electric chair, he said he did not know. R 2462.

FBI Agent Michael Clemens and other officers interviewed Mr. Wyatt the night of his arrest. Mr. Wyatt told about travels with Michael Lovette through various states, and said they had parted in Florida. R 2576-77. He said "Jim," another personality within him, would do things over which he, Tommy, had no control. R 2578. He said Jim had hurt a bunch of people and that he (Tommy) did not want to hurt any one else. <u>Id</u>. George Faulk of the South Carolina Department of Law Enforcement gave similar testimony about the interview.

Patrick McCoombs, a federal prison inmate, testified to statements supposedly made by Mr. Wyatt while the two awaited extradition from South Carolina. A former inmate in a unit for high-security risks, violent offenders, and incorrigibles at Florida State Prison, he told Mr. Wyatt he had been "a runaround on death row," and Mr. Wyatt responded with interest about rules and privileges there. R 2754-2756. Thereafter, Mr. Wyatt told Mr McCoombs about the Domino's Pizza crime as follows: Mr. Wyatt wanted to show Michael Lovette how it was done. R 2758. He asked for a pizza and the man behind the counter gave him a hard time and told him to hold up, and he pulled his pistol out, and said "Hold up on this, motherfucker." R 2759. There was a woman and a young Cuban delivery boy. R 2760-2761. After pushing these two into the bathroom, Mr. Wyatt brought the manager to the safe, and got a money bag with \$1000 out of the safe; he pistol whipped the man because the safe had less money than expected. Id. When they put the people into the bathroom, Mr. Lovette donned a Domino's T-shirt and went to the front counter. R 2763. One man began to beg, and Mr. Wyatt was extremely upset: "I was real pissed-off

about this guy lying to me about this money because I knew there was more money in there." R 2765. The man was begging, saying please you got to let me go, please don't kill me. I have a two-year-old daughter and if you want more money you can take my wife, take he home with you, one of you all can go with her and I've got more money at home, and Mr. Wyatt said he shot him in the chest for lying. R 2766. After shooting the man, he told the others that they were dead, that he could not leave witnesses; the woman started crying, and the Cuban knelt and prayed. R 2767. Not wanting to hear the woman cry, he shot her in the head; he went to the Cuban, put the gun in his ear, and told him "Listen real close because you're going to hear it coming," something to that effect, and shot him; he saw that the first man was still alive so he went back and shot him in the head. R 2767. Mr. Wyatt wanted to clean the bodies up, said there was blood all over the bathroom, wanted to move the bodies to where they would not be quickly discovered, but Mr. Lovette was "flipping out", screaming that they should leave. R 2768. They got rid of the Cadillac because they were going to split up and had gotten into an argument and he was going to give Mr. Lovette the Cadillac to get rid of him, but Mr. Lovette had talked him into staying together. R 2768. He left the gun in some water. R 2787-2788.

In addition to the foregoing, Mr. McCoombs was the source of much character evidence about Mr. Wyatt.

Asked by the state to describe Mr. Wyatt's demeanor, Mr. McCoombs replied: "The only way I could describe Tommy Wyatt's demeanor is to say this, all right. Like I said, I was a runaround on death row for 7 months and I never forgot the majority of those people that I was on death row with. I mean, I could start naming some of these people that

- 8 -

was up there on death row. There were some infamous, infamous characters and --" R 2770. The defense objected, and the state said it would rephrase the question, and the judge said, "All right. You better." R 2770-2771. Asked again, he replied: "I mean, have you ever seen anybody smile with their mouth and not with their eyes? That's the effect that I had, somebody that -- if I looked at him -- the way I look at him, if he was pointing a gun at me, I would have knew that he was going to kill me." R 2771-2772. The court overruled a defense objection to this testimony. R 2772.

After hearing Mr. Wyatt's account, Mr. McCoombs had a nightmare: he saw Wyatt looking at him, with the gun pointing at him, and he began to feel the feelings of the manager. R 2773. He felt like a participant in the murder. R 2773.

When Mr. Wyatt discussed his crimes and use of guns, Mr. McCoombs considered that he himself had used a gun in a robbery and that he might have killed someone, and started feeling he was in the same league with Tommy Wyatt. R 2779. He wanted out of that, he is not quite in that league. <u>Id</u>. He was a thief most of his life but he has never been one to go shooting people up. R 2779-2780.

Mr. Wyatt asked if it was hard to have someone killed in prison, and Mr. McCoombs replied that it was not very hard, it just depended on if the money was right and if you knew the right people. R 2791-2792. He gave Mr. Wyatt names of people he had done time with; Mr. McCoombs was afraid that when he got to the prison Mr. Wyatt would look up the people whose names he gave. R 2792. Concerned lest Mr. Lovette testify against him, Mr. Wyatt asked Mr. McCoombs "to hook it up for him" and that is why he gave him the names. R 2792-93. Mr. Wyatt said they had statements against him, and that they were no good because he had a split personality; he told them that he was Jim, that Jim was mean and he was not. R 2786. He was laughing about it. <u>Id</u>.

Mr. Wyatt said one of the reasons McCoombs was caught for his bank robbery was that he did not intimidate people enough, saying "You should have stuck it in -- stuck it in her face and socked her in the head a couple of times to get her mind right." R 2761. He said that's what he did to someone at Domino's. R 2762.

Mr. McCoombs decided he must choose whether to accept that he was like Tommy Wyatt or to show that he was not. R 2789. He did not want to be a participant in the crime, did not want to have to feel guilty about people dying, especially the man; in prison when somebody has guts, you have to respect them for that, and he respected the man's guts for trying to get his wife out of there; so he decided to write the whole thing down and send it to the federal marshall. R 2790.

Mr. McCoombs strongly intimated that Mr. Wyatt would have him killed for testifying against him. As a consequence of his testifying, the next several years are not going to be "a very joyful experience" for him: "I'm going to have to run, I'm going to have to hide." R 2791. The only thing that he asked for in exchange for his testimony is "a little bit of protection. I have asked for my well-being to be looked out for." R 2796. He testified that convicts live by a "code" and that one could pay for violating the code. R 2752. He had "added incentive" not to go back to prison because "if I go to Florida prison, everybody knows me everywhere." R 2858-59.

Mr. McCoombs also gave testimony about Mr. Wyatt's activities after separating from Mr. Lovette. He went to Clearwater, stayed with two guys and a girl, one of the guys was named John, and he later used John's name. R 2780. They went to the beach, and a girl found some keys in front of Ford Taurus, and Mr. Wyatt stole it. R 2781.

Thinking the police were after him, he went to the Carolinas. R 2782. He had a homosexual driving the car and they were cruising around partying and were pulled over and the officer asked him whose car it was, and he said it belonged to his father which was a mistake: he should have said it was the homosexual's. The officer called the car in, and Mr. Wyatt tried to flee. R 2782. He got out of jail in Myrtle Beach when he dyed his hair, and used a fake accent and used John's name. 2783-2784. His boss bonded him out. Upset about the police getting his car, he broke into his boss's house and stole a truck. R 2784. When an officer pulled him over for going too slow, he jumped out of the truck and ran in the woods, and every time he came out of the woods, the law was waiting for him. R 2785.

Near the end of Mr. McCoombs' testimony, the defense unsuccessfully objected and moved for a mistrial when he testified that he was to be placed in a witness protection program, but it depended on his passing a polygraph test. R 2866-67.

2. Mr. Wyatt testified: He and Mr. Lovette stole the Cadillac, stayed at the motel in Yeehaw Junction, and then went to Vero Beach. They went to Marvin Gardens, but then Mr. Lovette left and Mr. Wyatt stayed at the bar drinking. R 3251-53. Eventually reappearing, Mr. Lovette said they had to leave; he was anxious and in a hurry, saying a policeman had been following him and he thought the police might have the tag number from the car. R 3254. Mr. Lovette drove, and he was speeding and driving all over the road, although the red engine light indicated overheating. R 3255. Mr. Lovette was so nervous, shaking

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