IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 77,666

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURTE
By_______Chief Deputy Clerk

FEB 24 1994

THOMAS A. WYATT,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT, IN AND FOR INDIAN RIVER COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA A. TERENZIO
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 656879
1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd.
Suite 300
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
Telephone: (407) 688-7759

Counsel for Appellee

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

Appellant claims that trial court erred in denying his motion to suppress his blood samples. He argues that the affidavit presented to the judge was not sworn to. The record establishes otherwise. (R 2714). The officer was sworn in and testified that the allegations in the affidavit were true. (R 2715). Appellant has failed to establish error. Collins v. State, 465 So.2d 1266 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985).

Appellant claims that the trial court erred in denying his motion to suppress his statements to various law enforcement officers. The denial of a motion to suppress is presumed correct. Trepal v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S327, 328 (Fla. June 10, 1993). Appellant claims that he invoked his right to counsel when he elicited the advice of FBI agents regarding whether he should seek the advice of an attorney. (R 2484). The agent informed appellant that he could not advise him one way or another, only he could make that determination. (R 2484). He was then told again that an attorney would be appointed if he wanted one. (R 2484), or if he wanted to talk then the police would be

If error to admit appellant's blood samples, any error must be considered harmless with respect to appellant's convictions for first degree murder. The evidence established that Appellant and his codefendant were together on a crime spree for several days. Appellant told both Larry Bouchette and Patrick McCoombs about the murders. Appellant's explanation that he sat in a bar while his codefendant went and committed the murders is not plausible, given that the two men were inseparable for days prior to and after the murders.

interested in talking with him. (R 2484). Appellant then asked the officer what he wanted to talk about and the agent indicated that he would like to discuss the events that transpired from the time appellant escaped until his arrest. (R 2485). Appellant then gave a statement. (R 2564-2613).

At best, appellant's attempt at seeking the advice of the agent can possibly be construed as an equivocal request for attorney. Consequently, the agent's attempt to clarify appellant's statement, decline the invitation to offer advice and then again repeat that an attorney would be provided if he wanted one was permissible. Nash v. Estelle, 597 F. 2d 513, 517 (5th Cir. 1979). Canady v. State, 427 So. 2d 723, 729 (Fla. 1983). court erred in admitting the statement made enforcement agents, it must be considered harmless. Appellant stated in detail to a cellmate that he killed all three people at the Domino's restaurant. Physical evidence places appellant and his codefendant in the area at the time of the murders. stolen car was spotted at the murder scene at the time of the Appellant's explanation that his codefendant committed the murders while appellant stayed at a bar is just not credible.

ISSUE III

THE DNA EVIDENCE WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED AT TRIAL

Appellant claims that the trial court erred in admitting the statistical testimony regarding DNA evidence. This Court has ruled that such evidence is admissible. Robinson v.State, 610 So. 2d 1288, 1291 (Fla. 1992); Andrews v. State, 533 So.2d 841 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), review denied, 542 So. 2d 1332 (Fla. 1989).

Appellant also claims that the trial court erred in allowing Dr. McElfresh to testify to certain data that was complied by others. Appellant claims that such was a violation of Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923). As noted above, this Court has recognized the reliability of DNA testing. Robinson. Although Dr. McElfresh's results were in part dependent upon findings of others, he himself rechecked those findings before relying upon them, they were properly admitted. (R 3171-3173, 3177, 3193, 3194).

Appellant also takes exception to the testimony of Daniel Nippes. Specifically he claims that Nippes improperly bolstered the credibility of a witness by listing his qualifications. This issue is not preserved for appeal as there was no objection to this testimony. An initial objection was made regarding Nippes's expertise in this area. (R 2952-53). Occhioone v. State 570 So. 2d 902, 905-906 (Fla. 1990). There was never an objection to the specific statement regarding

Nippes's affiliation to a scientific committee or to his "recommendation" that the DNA testing been done at Life Codes.

As for the merits the record reveals that Nippes never said he recommended that the testing be done at Life Codes. one point a reference was made to a DNA committee in Florida. (R A separate exchange took place were Nippes said a decision was made to do DNA testing. (R 2955). He never said that he recommended that Life Codes do the testing. (R 2955). In any event there is no error. The cases relied upon by appellant are not dispositive of the issue. There is no improper opinion testimony as to the qualifications of one expert over another one as in Carver v. Orange County, 444 So. 2d 452, 454 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984) and Nowitzke v. State, 572 So. 2d 1346, 1352 (Fla. 1990). Nippes was called to lay a predicate as to why DNA testing was to be done. (R 2953-2954). Nippes did not bolster the credibility of one witness over another. He simply outlined the procedures utilized. There is no error.

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED EVIDENCE OF APPELLANT'S PRIOR IMPRISONMENT

that the trial court erred Appellant claims allowing the handwriting sample obtained from his prior prison records to be used as a comparison. This issue is not preserved for appeal as any error that may have been created was clearly invited by appellant. Pope v. State, 441 So. 2d 1073, 1076 This is not a situation were appellant was forego one constitutional right in favor of another. agreed to stipulate to the identity of both appellant's and Lovette's handwriting on the hotel registration cards without bringing in the samples used for the comparison. The samples were obtained from both defendants prison records. Appellant wanted to stipulate to his own but not to Lovette's in order to imply that Lovette had previously been in prison but appellant stipulation to By qualifying the include not. sample only, appellant is not protecting one handwriting constitutional right over another, he is simply trying to gain an advantage for himself. (R 2099-2102). The state was not compelled to accept appellant's limited offer as the implication created, i.e., Lovette was in prison and appellant was not, was incorrect. Johnson v. State, 608 So. 2d 4, 9-10 (Fla. 1992).

Appellant's trial defense was that while he was at a bar, Lovette took the stolen Cadillac, committed the robberies and murders and came back to the bar to get appellant. (R 3251-3260).

Although appellant has every right to make such a tactical decision, he certainly cannot now behind that and claim error.

Appellant's reliance upon Czubak v. State, 570 So. 2d 925 (Fla. 1990) is misplaced. In that case, the defendant's escape status was not relevant to any issue and was improperly introduced during cross-examination of a state witness. The statement was not invited because it was unresponsive to the defense's question. Czubak. In the instant case, appellant was apprised of the consequences of his refusal to stipulate to both handwriting samples, consequently appellant cannot complain as any error was invited. Edwards v.State, 530 So. 2d. 936, 938 (4th DCA 1988). (R 2100-2107). The handwriting sample was necessary to prove that appellant and Lovette signed hotel registration cards the nights before and after the murders. The state was attempting to prove that appellant was in the area of the murders during that time.

Appellant also claims that the state could have used samples other than those obtained from prison. At the time the comparisons were being made no other sample was available. (R 2109-1212). Furthermore, use of prior samples as opposed to use of those obtained in any was connected to this case were much more reliable. (R 2110-2114, 2181). The trial court properly allowed the state to use the handwriting sample from appellant's prior incarceration.

If there was error in admitting the prior prison records it must be considered harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

When the handwriting samples were introduced, there as only a passing reference that they were from the Department of Corrections. There was no reference at all to the fact that appellant had escaped. (R 2118-2119). Furthermore, the charts that were used to make the comparison that went back to the jury make no reference to the Department of Corrections as stated by defense counsel, and the trial court made a finding that the charts were innocuous and without prejudice. (R 2166-2167).

There is no question that appellant was with Lovette and in the area during the murders. Appellant's semen is found in Mrs. Edwards's vagina. Appellant told two different people that he killed the three victims. Appellant himself testified that he was an eight time convicted felon. Finally his defense that Lovette did it is not credible, especially since it is rebutted by the physical evidence that appellant raped Mrs. Edwards. Any error must be considered harmless. Bryan v. State, 533 So.2d 744 (Fla. 1988).

ISSUE V

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT IMPERMISSIBLE ALLOW IMPROPER COLLATERAL CRIME EVIDENCE

Appellant claims that the trial court admitting into evidence various acts committed during the crime spree. Specifically he challenges the admission of evidence that appellant stole a Ford Taurus in Florida a week after the murders, he stole a truck from his employer, Larry Bouchette, in South Carolina, and he attempted to flee from an officer who was investigating a possible car theft in Myrtle Beach. Appellant also objects to admission of Bouchette's statement that appellant told him that he had killed three people and he could do it again. (R 2371). Appellant failed to object to the admissibility of his statement to Bouchette, consequently appellate review is precluded. Lawrence v. State, 614 So. 2d 1092, 1094 (Fla. 1993). In any event appellant's statement to Bouchette was admissible. Swafford v. State, 533 So. 2d 270 (Fla. 1988).

As for the thefts of the cars and escapes, the evidence was properly admitted. The trial court allowed evidence of the theft of the Ford Taurus, Bouchette's truck and the escape attempt from the Myrtle Beach police as evidence relevant to flight. (R 2203, 2361-2363, 2395-2396). The trial court's ruling was correct as the evidence demonstrated that appellant attempted to flee the state of Florida as well as avoid arrest in South Carolina once he was apprehended by police. Bundy v. State, 455 So. 2d 330, 348 (Fla. 1984).

Also not preserved for appeal is appellant's challenge to Patrick McCoombs statement regarding appellant's demeanor. (R 27721-2772). Appellant's objection at trial dealt with the witness's describing appellant to others he has seen on death row. That objection was sustained. (R 2771). The witness then described appellant's eyes as he was describing the murders. (R 27721-2772). Again appellant objected to the witness testifying as to what he thought rather than what he saw. (R 2772). There was no objection regarding improper collateral crime evidence. Review is precluded. Occhicone, 570 So. 2d 902, 905-906 (Fla. 1990); Lawrence, supra.

Appellant also objects to McCoombs testimony regarding a "convict code". This claim is not preserved for appeal as there was no objection to this statement. Lawrence. event the comment was clearly a general reference to the unpopularity of testifying against other inmates. Ponticelli v. State, 593 So. 2d 483, 489 (Fla. 1991). Appellant cannot establish harmful error. Finally appellant's objects to McCoomb's reference to being placed in a witness protection program. (R 3867). The prosecutor was attempting to elicit from the witness that he was going back to jail after he testified. He stated that he did not know for sure but maybe he was going into a witness protection program. (R 2866). Appellant moved for a mistrial which was denied. (R 2867). The prosecutor again asked the witness that question and McCoombs stated that after the trial that was what was going back to federal prison. (R 2867).

Any indirect reference to a threat was made in passing and was not harmful error. <u>Ponticelli</u>.

ISSUE VI

SHACKLING OF THE DEFENDANT WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL

Appellant claims that the trial court erred in allowing him to remain shackled during the trial. The record is clear that the jury was not aware of the shackles as appellant's legs could not be seen at the defense table. (R 3-6). Appellant has failed to establish any error. Robinson v. State, 610 So. 2d 1288, 1290 (Fla. 1992).

ISSUE VII

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT PRECLUDE DEFENSE COUNSEL FROM FULLY ARGUING HIS POINT TO THE COURT

Appellant alleges that the trial court refused to allow a proffer of evidence regarding the admissibility of appellant's fingerprints. This issue is not preserved for appeal as appellant failed to request that the proffer be made prior to the court's disposition of the issue. Gunsby v. State, 574 So. 2d 1085,. cert. denied, 116 L. Ed. 2d 102, 112 S. Ct.

The record demonstrates that the trial court did not preclude the presentation of any evidence or argument during litigation of the issue. Defense counsel made his motion to suppress and stated his reasons. (R 1832). He stated that he was prepared to make a proffer of the testimony, the substance of which was that the fingerprints were obtained without appellant's consent and were obtained by someone not authorized to do so. (R The state countered appellant's argument by conceding 1832). that the prints were taken without appellant's consent and that the person taking the prints was acting as a agent and therefore had the authority to do so. (R 1832). The state further argued that the fingerprints were admissible under the inevitable discovery doctrine. (R 1833). Appellant was then invited to submit any case law to rebut the state's argument. (R 1833). He was unable to do so. (R 1833). Regardless of the testimony the fingerprints were admissible. (R 1830-1833). Consequently the proffer of the evidence would not have been helpful to the court

in deciding the issue. Reaves v. State, 531 So. 2d 401 (Fla. 1988); Williams v. State, 353 So. 2d 956 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978).

ISSUE VIII

THE MEDICAL EXAMINER DID NOT GIVE SPECULATIVE TESTIMONY

Appellant claims that the trial court allowed the medical examiner to answer questions that assume facts not in evidence and amount to speculation. The prosecutor asked the medical examiner if there was any way to discern the position of the victims and the murderer when they were shot. (R 1473-1475). The medical examiner made it abundantly clear that there is no way of actually knowing the exact position of the bodies at the time of shooting. (R 1474). There are a number of reasonable possibilities of which Dr. Edwards was giving an opinion. (R 1475, 1522, 1547-1548). During cross-examination defense counsel was able to elicit from Dr. Hobin again that there is no way of knowing the actual position of any of the victims. (R 1560, 1562-63, 1566). Appellant has failed to establish that the jury was ever mislead as to the nature of Hobin's testimony. Contrary to appellant's assertions otherwise, the state never conceded prejudice, the prosecutor stated that prejudice is not the issue. (R 1475). 10 Appellant has failed to establish that the questions posed to Dr. Hobin were anything but routine opinion testimony.

Ironically the defense asked questions of different witnesses regarding possible explanations for various occurences. For instance defense counsel asked various witnesses to give a possible explanations for different events, i.e., blood splatters in the back office, (R 1133-1135), possible explanation for the bruise on Mrs. Edwards leg, (R 1562), and the possible explanation that there was alot of debris in the stolen car that would account for it's complete burning. (R 1631).

ISSUE IX

THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED REGARDING FLIGHT, PREMEDITATION AND REASONABLE DOUBT

Relying on <u>Fenelon v. State</u>, 549 So. 2d 292 (Fla. 1992), appellant claims that the trial court erred in instructing the jury on flight. Appellant's argument is without merit as this Court has stated that <u>Fenelon</u> is prospective only. At the time of appellant's trial a flight instruction was permissible. <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S643, 645 (Fla. December 16, 1993). If it was error to give such an instruction it must be considered harmless given the overwhelming evidence of guilt.

Appellant also challenges the trial court's instruction regarding premeditation and reasonable doubt. This portion of the issue is not preserved for appeal as there was no objection to the instructions at trial. Sochor v. State, 619 So. 2d 285, 290 (Fla. 1993).

The instruction given regarding reasonable doubt is correct. In <u>Woods v. State</u>, the Fourth District recently rejected an identical claim:

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